1983

**D. Dale Williams, Executive Director, Department Of Administrative Services, State of Utah, As Administrator of the Utah State Insurance Fund v. Allstate Insurance Company, William J. Bliss, Vera Bliss and the Second Injury Fund : Brief of Defendant-Appellant**

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a partial summary judgment entered on the 5th day of May, 1983, by Judge Judith Billings in the Third District Court in and for the District of Salt Lake County.

DISPOSITION BY THE LOWER COURT

The District Court Judge ruled that the appellee Allstate Insurance Company, was entitled to partial summary judgment on the question of whether or not the State Insurance Fund was entitled to reimbursement of \$18,720.00 paid into the Second Injury Fund upon the death of the appellee William J. Bliss and Veora Bliss, decedent, pursuant to an order of the Industrial Commission and

Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-68.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant is asking this court to reverse the parties' summary judgement of the Third District Court and determine that pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-62, the State Insurance Fund is entitled to reimbursement of the \$18,720.00 it paid into the Second Injury Fund pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-68(2)(a).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 30, 1980, Karen V. Bliss was fatally injured in an automobile accident which occurred on the airport road. (R.108) She died the following day at LDS Hospital after extensive measures were taken to save her life. (R.108)

At the time of her accident, Ms. Bliss was in the course of her employment, with the Airport Shuttle Parking, as a shuttle van driver. (R.108) Airport Shuttle Parking was insured by the Utah State Insurance Fund for worker's compensation purposes. (R. 108) As a result of Ms. Bliss' accident, the State Insurance Fund has paid medical and funeral benefits in the sum of \$10,131.45. (R. 108) The Utah State Insurance Fund, pursuant to an order of the Utah Industrial Commission and Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-68 2(a), has also paid \$18,720.00 into the Second Injury Fund. (R. 109, 117) There is no dispute on this appeal regarding the State Insurance Fund's right to reimbursement on the medical and funeral benefits paid as the parties stipulated to that of the District Court. (R. 167)

In March of 1982, William J. and Veora Bliss filed a complaint for the wrongful death of their daughter, Karen V. Bliss, against the driver of the other vehicle, Sue Ellen Dart. (R. 132) In 1980, prior to the filing of the wrongful death action, the State Insurance Fund notified William J. and Veora Bliss, through their attorney, of the rights of the insurance carrier in a wrongful death cause of action and of the method of disbursement of proceeds recovered pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-63. (R. 120)

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I.

UTAH STATUTORY AND CASE LAW MAKE IT CLEAR THAT THE \$18,720.00 WHICH THE STATE INSURANCE FUND HAS PAID TO THE SECOND INJURY FUND IS "COMPENSATION"

When an employee with no dependents is killed in a job related accident, the Worker's Compensation Act requires the employer or its insurance carrier to pay the sum of \$18,720.00 into what is called the Second Injury Fund, which is maintained by the State Treasurer. The State Treasurer is regarded more or less as the banker or custodian of the Second Injury Fund. Wherever the Worker's Compensation Act refers to payments to the State Treasurer in reality, those are payments into the Second Injury Fund.

The Utah Supreme Court in Star v. Industrial Commission, 615 P.2d 436 (1980) defined compensation to include payments made to the Second Injury Fund:

"Compensation," as used in the amendment in the constitution, means the same as it is used and defined in the compensation act, i.e. any payment

required by the act to be paid to a workman or his dependents, or for their benefit, or into the State Treasury, for the special purpose of the compensation act. This includes disability payments death benefits, medical and hospital expenses burial expenses and payment to the State Treasury as provided by the act.  
(Emphasis added)

Id. at 438.

Therefore, the money the State Insurance Fund has paid into the Second Injury Fund was a "payment required by the Act to be made into the State Treasury." The only payments required by the Act to be made to the State Treasury are those payments such as the \$18,720.00 herein involved which an employer or its insurance carrier must pay to the Second Injury Fund. Indeed the Star decision dealt specifically with the provision of the Utah Worker's Compensation Act requiring the employer or its insurance carrier to make payment to the Second Injury Fund upon the death of an employee's wife or dependents, specifically payment of \$18,720.00 is required by Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-68(2)(a),

(a) If the commission has made a determination that there are no dependents of the deceased, it may, prior to a lapse of one year from the date of death of a deceased employee, issue a temporary order for the employer or insurance carrier to pay into the second injury fund the sum of \$18,720. The \$18,720. shall be reduced by the amount of any weekly compensation payments paid to or due the deceased between the date of the accident and death. Should a dependency claim be filed subsequent to the issuance of such an order and, therefore, a determination of dependency is made by the commission, the award shall first be paid out of the sum deposited for credit to the second injury fund by the employer or insurance carrier before any further claim may be asserted against the employer or insurance carrier. In the event

no dependency claim is filed within one year from the date of death, the commission's temporary order shall become permanent and final. If no temporary order has been issued and no claim for dependency has been filed within one year from the date of death, the commission may issue a permanent order at any time requiring the carrier or employer to pay \$18,720. into the second injury fund. Any claim for compensation by a dependent must be filed with the commission within one year from the date of death of the deceased.

The Utah State Insurance Fund paid the \$18,720.00, which is the subject matter of this litigation, into the Second Injury Fund pursuant to this statute. The Star decision makes it undeniably clear that this \$18,720.00 was compensation payable under the Utah Worker's Compensation Act.

#### POINT II

PURSUANT TO UTAH CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 35-1-62, THE UTAH STATE INSURANCE FUND IS ENTITLED TO FULL REIMBURSEMENT FOR ANY AND ALL COMPENSATION PAID INCLUDING ANY AMOUNT PAID INTO THE SECOND INJURY FUND

The State Insurance Fund is entitled to full reimbursement of the \$18,720.00 it has paid into the Second Injury Fund in reference to Karen Bliss' death. Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-62, which follows, makes this explicitly clear:

35-1-62. Injuries or death caused by wrongful acts of persons other than employer officer, agent, or employee of said employer-- Rights of employer or insurance carrier in Notice of intention to proceed against third party -- Right to maintain action not involving employee-employer relationship -- Disbursement of proceeds of recovery. When any injury or death for which compensation is payable under this title shall have been caused by the wrongful act or neglect of a person other than an employer, officer, agent, or employee of said

employer, the injured employee, or in case of death his dependents, may claim compensation and the injured employee or his heirs or personal representative may also have an action for damages against such third person. If compensation is claimed and the employer or insurance carrier becomes obligated to pay compensation, the employer or insurance carrier shall become trustee of the cause of action against the third party and may bring and maintain the action either in its own name or in the name of the injured employee, or his heirs or the personal representative of the deceased, provided the employer or carrier may not settle and release the cause of action without the consent of the commission. Before proceeding against the third party, the injured employee, or, in case of death, his heirs, shall give written notice of such intention to the carrier or other person obligated for the compensation payments, in order to give such person a reasonable opportunity to enter an appearance in the proceeding.

For the purposes of this section and notwithstanding the provisions of section 35-1-42, the injured employee or his heirs or personal representative may also maintain an action for damages against subcontractors, general contractors, independent contractors, property owners or their lessees or assigns, not occupying an employee-employer relationship with the injured or deceased employee at the time of his injury or death.

If any recovery is obtained against such third person it shall be disbursed as follows:

(1) The reasonable expense of the action, including attorneys' fees, shall be paid and charged proportionately against the parties as their interests may appear. Any such fee chargeable to the employer or carrier is to be a credit upon any fee payable by the injured employee or, in the case of death, by the dependents, for any recovery and against the third party.

(2) The person liable for compensation payments shall be reimbursed in full for all payments made less the proportionate share of costs and attorney's fees provided for

in subsection (1).

(3) The balance shall be paid to the injured employee or his heirs in case of death, to be applied to reduce or satisfy in full any obligation thereafter accruing against the person liable for compensation. (underlining added)

This statute, particularly subparagraph 2, clearly and unambiguously mandates reimbursement to the "person liable" for "compensation" in full. Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-68(2)(a) and Star v. Industrial Commission, 613 P.2d 436, make it clear that the \$18,720.00 is "compensation". In this case, Karen Bliss' employer, through the State Insurance Fund, is the "person liable" for that compensation. Therefore, the Utah State Insurance Fund should be reimbursed in full for the \$18,720.00 which it has paid to the Second Injury Fund in conjunction with Karen Bliss' death. Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-62 outlines the disbursement order in cases such as this in explicit detail thus that order should be amended only by the legislature if at all and not by Court decisions.

The District Court Judge relied upon Oliveras v. Caribou-Four Corners, Inc., 598 P.2d 1320 (1979). Undoubtedly Oliveras does impact upon third party actions under the Worker's Compensation Act. However, Oliveras does not deny the employer and/or the insurance carrier their statutory rights created by the clear language of Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-62, to recover compensation expended as a result of the wrongdoing of a tortfeasor. The money that the State Insurance Fund has paid into the Second

Injury Fund constitutes a statutory special damage independent of the damages the heirs may claim on their own behalf. The State Insurance Fund would not have been required to pay the \$18,720.00 but for the wrongful doing of the tortfeasor.

Certainly, Oliveras prohibits the employer and/or the insurance carrier from divesting non dependant heirs of their general damages. However, it would be unreasonable to interpret Oliveras as denying the insurance carrier their statutory rights clearly defined by Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-62. Those statutory rights are in reality an item of special damages. Such an interpretation of the decision, in essence, would create a cause of action on the one hand while rendering it remediless on the other. In addition, to permit that result would allow the tortfeasor a windfall benefit from his wrongdoing. In this case, the wrongdoing of the tortfeasor has resulted in a loss to the State Insurance Fund of \$18,720.00. This item of special damage is separate from the claims of the non-dependent heirs in this case and the State Insurance Fund's right to reimbursement should not be confused with the heirs' right to recover. The \$18,720.00 which the Utah State Insurance Fund has paid into the Second Injury Fund is a separate item of damage for which the tortfeasor is statutorily obligated to reimburse the Fund.

#### CONCLUSION

The Utah State Insurance Fund in the instant case is entitled to reimbursement for the \$18,720.00 which it has paid to the State Treasurer for deposit in the Second Injury Fund. Su-

payment to the State Treasurer is tantamount to a statutorily created special damage. Oliveras, limited the right of reimbursement only in the sense that the insurance carrier and/or the employer cannot divest non-dependent heirs of their general damages. Oliveras, however, cannot be read to completely eliminate the right of reimbursement of special damages as is clearly delineated in the Worker's Compensation Act. This interpretation of Oliveras insures the rights of the heirs under the wrongful death statute while also protecting the rights of the employers and/or insurance carriers created by the Worker's Compensation Act. Any other interpretation will permit the tortfeasor to escape the full consequences of his wrongdoing and, in reality, nullify Section 35-1-62. To adopt the interpretation of opposing counsel would amend the statute by court ruling rather than by legislative act.

Appellant, the Utah State Insurance Fund respectfully requests this court to reverse the Third Judicial Courts granting of partial summary judgment and enter an order entitling the Utah State Insurance Fund reimbursement from the tortfeasor for the \$18,720.00 which it has paid into the Second Injury Fund.