1983

D. Dale Williams, Executive Director, Department Of Administrative Services, State of Utah, As Administrator of the Utah State Insurance Fund v. Allstate Insurance Company, William J. Bliss, Vera Bliss and the Second Injury Fund : Brief of Defendant And Respondent William J. Bliss And Veora Bliss

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

WILLIAM J. BLISS and VEORA BLISS, respondents, are the real parties in interest in this appeal by the Utah State Insurance Fund from a partial Summary Judgment entered on the 5th day of May, 1983, by Judge Judith Billings in the Third District Court in and for Salt Lake County. Allstate Insurance no longer has any interest in the matter because they have made a compromise settlement of the death claim for the death of Karen Bliss with her parents.

DISPOSITION BY THE LOWER COURT

The trial Court held that William J. Bliss and Veora Bliss

were not obligated to pay to the State Insurance Fund the sum of \$18,720 from the settlement they received from Allstate. Karen's parents were not dependent upon her for support at the time of her death. The Court held, in effect, that since Karen's parents were not dependent upon her, and that since they had not made a claim for dependent's benefits, that the State Fund was not entitled to claim reimbursement from the sum received by Karen's parents as a result of the settlement of their wrongful death claim against the insurance carrier for negligent party responsible for the death of their daughter.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondents, William J. and Veora Bliss, seek affirmance of the partial Summary Judgment entered in the District Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

While we do not dispute the fact statement contained in appellants' brief, it is felt that such statement is not adequate to clearly present the position of these respondents. Karen Bliss was employed as an airport shuttle driver and while she was employed, she was killed as a result of a motor vehicle collision. The facts of the collision indicate clear liability on the part of the other driver, who was covered by Allstate Insurance. Karen Bliss' parents were not financially dependent upon her at the time of her death. Karen Bliss came under Workmen's Compensation and her employer was covered by the

Insurance Fund. The State Insurance Fund paid the sum of \$18,720 into the Second Injury Fund. Mr. and Mrs. Bliss have now made a compromise settlement of their wrongful death claim with Allstate Insurance. The sum of \$18,720 from said settlement is now being held in trust pending the outcome of this appeal. The issue before the court is whether this sum is to go to the parents of Karen Bliss as damages for her wrongful death, or is to be paid to the State Insurance Fund.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

UNDER THE UTAH WORKER'S COMPENSATION ACT THE NON-DEPENDENT PARENTS OF THEIR CHILD, THE DECEASED WORKER, DO NOT RECEIVE COMPENSATION OR SURVIVORS BENEFITS FROM THE EMPLOYER'S COMPENSATION CARRIER, THEREFORE, THE PARENTS HAVE NO OBLIGATION TO MAKE ANY PAYMENT TO THE INSURANCE CARRIER FROM THE PROCEEDS OF THE SETTLEMENT OF THEIR WRONGFUL DEATH CLAIM.

The appeal of the State Fund is based upon the interpretation it places on the word "compensation". The statutory language which is controlling in this case is contained in this portion of Sec. 35-1-62, UCA.

"When any injury or death for which compensation is payable under this title shall have been caused by the wrongful act or neglect of a person other than an employer, * * * the officer, agent or employee of said employer, the injured employee, or in cause of death his dependents may claim compensation and the injured employee or his heirs or personal representative may also have an action for damages against the third person."

If compensation is claimed, and the insurance carrier obligated to pay compensation, then compensation carrier becomes a trustee of the cause of action against the third party responsible for the death, under such circumstances the compensation carrier has a statutory right, to be reimbursed for payments made to the dependents of the deceased worker.

In this case the parents of Karen Bliss have not claimed they were dependent upon their daughter and their counsel in the District Court proceeding before Judge Billings specifically stated that the parents were not making a claim for survivor benefits from the State Fund as a result of her death in the course of her employment. Based upon the representation, Judge Billings granted a partial Summary Judgment which held that the State Insurance Fund was not entitled to the reimbursement for the sum paid to the parents of Karen Bliss in settlement of the wrongful death claim of their daughter.

The position of Mr. and Mrs. Bliss is that where there has been no payment to them by the State Fund, no obligation to reimburse the Fund has been created. When the legislature used the word "reimburse" they meant the usual and normal meaning of this word. Webster's Collegiate Dictionary defines the word reimburse as follows: (reimburse - 1: to pay back to someone REPAY.)

This generally accepted definition of the word reimburse

includes the concept that something had been paid to the person from whom reimbursement is sought. In the case now before the Court State Fund paid no compensation and for this reason there should be no obligation to pay anything back to the Fund.

Respondent relies on Star v. Industrial Commission, 615 P.2d 436 (1980) to support its claim. The Star case deals with a totally different fact and law question. In the Star case the non-dependent mother of a workman killed in the course of his employment sought compensation. The Industrial Commission, after a hearing, determined she was not dependent upon her son and denied benefits. Then the mother appealed to the Supreme Court challenging the statutory disposition of death benefits under the Workmen's Compensation Act where the employee dies without dependents. The Supreme Court affirmed the order of the Industrial Commission and held that the mother, under circumstances where she could not establish that she was wholly or partially dependent upon her son, was not entitled to death benefits under the Compensation Act. The Court went on to say: "Her loss of love, affection and companionship of a dutiful child is not compensable under the act." Citing Farnsworth v. Industrial Commission, 534 P2 897.

This case now before the Court is the exact opposite of the Star case. In this case the settlement paid to the Bliss parents, by the negligent third party, which the State Fund seeks

to share, was paid for damages which are not covered by the Compensation Act, namely "the love, affection and companionship of a dutiful child". The ruling of the Court in the case of St. v. Industrial Commission, supra, has no application to the case now before the Court as it deals solely with a challenge to the constitutionality of the statutory provision requiring an insurance carrier to pay to the Second Injury Fund when a deceased worker leaves no dependents.

POINT II

THE PURPOSE OF SEC. 35-1-62 IS TO PREVENT A DOUBLE RECOVERY BY DEPENDENT HEIRS BY RECEIVING COMPENSATION FOR DEATH FROM THE COMPENSATION CARRIER AND ALSO OBTAINING WRONGFUL DEATH DAMAGES FROM A THIRD PARTY TORT FEASOR. THIS STATUTE HAS NO APPLICATION TO NON-DEPENDENT HEIRS WHO DO NOT RECEIVE WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION.

The State Fund is asking the court to reverse its decision in the case of Oliveras v. Caribou Four Corners, Inc., 598 P.2d 1111 (1979). Here, as in the Oliveras case, The Fund relies on subsection (2) of Sec. 35-1-62 UCA which provides:

(2) The person liable for compensation payments shall be reimbursed in full for all payments made less the proportionate share of costs and attorneys' fees provided for in subsection (1).

The Court clearly addressed and decided the issue now raised when in the Oliveras case on page 1324 it said:

"At first blush Paragraph (2) above seems to support the contention of the Fund that it is entitled to full reimbursement out of the wrongful death recovery even though the shares of those who received no compensation from the Fund must be invaded to provide for full reimbursement. However, Sec. 35-1-62, Paragraph 2, should be construed to avoid a conflict with Article XVI, Sec. 5, of the Constitution. Article XVI, Sec. 5, provides that the "amount recoverable shall not be subject to any statutory limitation," except where compensation "is provided for by law."

This provision is not consistent with the statutory construction that would allow the Fund to invade the shares of nondependent heirs who received no compensation. The nondependent heirs receive no compensation "provided for by law"; therefore, their share is not subject to diminution."

The controlling factor in this case is the same as in the Oliveras case Article XVI of the Constitution Sec. 5 which provides "The amount recoverable shall not be subject to any statutory limitation except where compensation is provided by law".

Under the facts of the case now before the Court Workmen's Compensation is not provided for by law. The non-dependent heirs of Karen Bliss, her parents, received no compensation from the State Fund. Therefore under the Oliveras decision their wrongful death recovery is not subject to diminution by the claim of the State Fund.

POINT III

RECOVERY UNDER THE WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION ACT IS LIMITED TO "DEPENDENTS". UNDER THE WRONGFUL DEATH STATUTE RECOVERY IS GRANTED TO HEIRS REGARDLESS OF DEPENDENCY.

Recovery for death whether incurred in the course of employment or otherwise was unknown in the common law.

The Workmen's Compensation Act Sec. 35-1-45 UCA requires that a person be able to prove dependency upon a deceased worker in order to receive compensation benefits.

The Wrongful Death Statute Sec. 78-11-7 UCA requires that a person establish that he is an heir in order to maintain a wrongful death action. The elements of damages in a wrongful death action, while they include the element of loss of support, cover many other losses in addition to that of support. A leading Utah decision on the elements of damage in a wrongful death action is In Re Behm's Estate, 213 P2 657 (1950). Justice Latimer, speaking for a unanimous court said at page 661:

"Besides the financial support furnished by the deceased to his or her family, the loss of affection, counsel and advice, the loss of the deceased's care and solicitude for the welfare of his or her family and the loss of the comfort and pleasure the family of the deceased would have received are all matters to be considered in assessing damages recoverable under 104-3-11, UCA, 1943. Pool v. Southern Pac. Co., 7 Utah 303, 26 P. 654; Evans v. Oregon Short Line R. Co., 37 Utah 431, 108 P. 638, Ann. Cas. 1912C, 259; Chilton v. Union Pac. Ry. Co., 8 Utah 47, 29 P. 963."

CONCLUSION

The carefully considered decision of the District Court denying reimbursement to the State Insurance Fund should be affirmed.